FIRE SERVICE ORDINANCE 2010

This is a consolidated version of this legislation i.e. it incorporates all amendments made since the legislation was enacted as set out in the table below. It has been produced by the SBAA as an aid to transparency and easier access to SBA law. However, it is not the official version of SBA legislation and, although every effort has been made to check the document, its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. The official version of legislation is published in the SBA Gazette.

Legislation incorporated in this Consolidation	Ordinance	Date in Force
Fire Service Ordinance 2010	4/2010	04/03/2010
Fire Service (Amendment) Ordinance 2015	17/2015	01/01/2016
 <u>Notes</u> The substituted definition of Chief Fire Officer and new section 3A come into force on a day appointed "the appointed day" by the Chief Officer by order made as a public instrument. Until the appointed day there is a modification to section 3 – see footnote to that section 		
Building Standards (Adoption) Ordinance 2022	11/2022	16/05/2022

CONTENTS

- 1. Short title
- 2. Interpretation
- 3. Duties of the Chief Officer
- *3. Functions of Fire Service*
- *3A. Appointment of Chief Fire Officer*
- *3B. Duties of the Chief Fire Officer*
- 4. Ancillary powers of the Chief Officer
- 5. Fire safety inspections
- 6. Obtaining information and investigating fires
- 7. Supplementary powers when entering property under section 6
- 8. Fire-fighting powers
- 9. Fire hydrants
- 10. Notice of works affecting water supply
- 11. Obligation to increase water supply and pressure
- 12. Use of water supply
- 13. False alarms
- 14. Insurance against fire damage
- 15. Regulations
- 16. Liability of officers of a body corporate
- 17. Delegation to the Republic
- 18. Application to the Crown
- 19. Repeal and revocation
- 20. Amendment of Motor Vehicles and Road Traffic (Consolidation) Ordinance 2006

BE it enacted by the Administrator of the Sovereign Base Areas of Akrotiri and Dhekelia as follows:-

Short title

1. This Ordinance may be cited as the Fire Service Ordinance 2010.

Interpretation

2. In this Ordinance—

"building" has the same meaning as in the Streets and Buildings Regulation (Consolidation)

Ordinance 1984(a) the Streets and Buildings Law of the Republic (Cap.96), as applied in the Areas by the Building Standards (Adoption) Ordinance 2022; (b)

"Chief Fire Officer" means the officer in charge of the Fire Service in the Areas;

["Chief Fire Officer" means the Chief Fire Officer of the Areas(c) appointed under section *3A*(*1*);] (**d**)

"Crown" means Her Majesty in right of Her Government in the United Kingdom and in right of Her Administration in the Areas; (e)

"emergency services" means ambulance services, fire services and police services;(f)

"equipment" includes fire engines, other vehicles, appliances, other apparatus, uniforms and badges of rank;

"fire-fighting purposes" means the purposes of the extinguishing of fire and the protection of life and property in the event of fire;

"fire officer" means a person employed as a fire-fighter by the Fire Service, and includes the Chief Fire Officer;

"Fire Service" means the Defence Fire Risk Management Organisation or its successor and which may include a body corporate contracted by the Crown to exercise the functions of the Fire Service:(g)

"irrigation association" has the same meaning as in the Irrigation (Private Water)

Association Ordinance(h):

"irrigation division" has the same meaning as in the Irrigation Divisions (Villages)

Ordinance(i):

"senior fire officer" means the highest ranked fire officer present at the scene of any

particular fire or, in the event that more than one person of the highest rank is present,

"Areas" is defined in Schedule 1 of the Interpretation Ordinance 2012 (Ordinance 8/2012) as the Sovereign Base Areas. (c)

⁽a) Ordinance 7/1984

⁽b) Amended by Ordinance 11/2022 – came into force on 16 May 2022

⁽d) Definition repealed and replaced by Ordinance 17/2015 - will come into effect by order made as a public instrument by the Chief Officer.

⁽e) Definition inserted by Ordinance 17/2015 - came into force on 1 January 2016

⁽f) Definition inserted by Ordinance 17/2015 - came into force on 1 January 2016 (g) Text inserted by Ordinance 17/2015 – came into force on 1 January 2016

⁽h) Cap. 115, Statute Laws of Cyprus revised edition 1959, as applied to and adapted in the Areas by the Sovereign Base Areas of Akrotiri and Dhekelia Order in Council 1960 (SI 1960/1369, United Kingdom) and the Laws (Adaptation and Interpretation) (Consolidation and Extension) Ordinance 1968 (5/68).

⁽i) Cap. 342, Statute Laws of Cyprus revised edition 1959, as applied to and adapted in the Areas by the Sovereign Base Areas of Akrotiri and Dhekelia Order in Council 1960 (SI 1960/1369, United Kingdom) and the Laws Adaptation and Interpretation) (Consolidation and Extension) Ordinance 1968 (5/68).

the one of them who has held that rank for the longest time.

Duties of the Chief Officer

3. (1) The Chief Officer must make provision in the Areas for the purposes of

- (a) preventing and extinguishing fires; and
- (b) protecting life and property in the event of fire.

(2) In making provision under subsection (1), the Chief Officer must in particular ensure that there is adequate provision for—

- (a) such fire stations and equipment as are necessary efficiently to meet all normal requirements;
- (b) training of all personnel;
- (c) dealing with calls for help and for summoning personnel;
- (d) obtaining information needed for fire-fighting purposes, in particular relating to --
 - (i) the nature of buildings and other property; and
 - (ii) the water supply available and the means of access to it;
- (e) ensuring that reasonable steps are taken to prevent or limit damage to property resulting from action taken for fire fighting purposes;
- (f) the giving of advice, on request, about
 - (i) how to prevent fires and restrict their spread through buildings and other property; and
 - (ii) the means of escape from buildings and other property in case of fire.

Functions of Fire Service (a)

3.—(1) The Fire Service has the functions of—

- (a) preventing and extinguishing fires;
- (b) protecting life and property in the event of fire;
- (c) promoting fire safety;
- (d) supporting other emergency services in the island of Cyprus, both in and outside the Areas, in accordance with arrangements made by the Administrator.
- (2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1)(d), support may include—
 - (a) the functions specified in subsection (1)(a) to (c);
 - (b) rescue and protection in the event of—
 - (i) road traffic incidents;
 - *(ii) maritime incidents;*
 - (iii) the collapse of a building, tunnel or other structure;
 - *(iv) an emergency.*

(3) In this section "emergency" means an event or situation that causes or is likely to cause—

- (a) one or more individuals to die, be seriously injured or become seriously ill; or
- (b) serious harm to the environment (including the life and health of plants and animals).

⁽a) Section 3 repealed and replaced by Ordinance 17/2015 – came into force on 1 January 2016. Until the day appointed by order made as a public instrument by the Chief Officer "The Fire Services has functions of" is replaced with "The Chief Officer must make provisions in the Areas for".

[Appointment of Chief Fire Officer (a)

3A.—(1) The Administrator must appoint a Chief Fire Officer with the concurrence of the Fire Service.

(2) If the Administrator directs it to do so, the Fire Service must remove or suspend the Chief Fire Officer.

(3) Before making a direction under subsection (2), the Administrator must consult the Fire Service.

(4) The Chief Fire Officer is accountable to the Administrator for the organisation and administration of the Fire Service, and for the efficient administration and government of the Service, subject to any order or direction of the Administrator.]

Duties of the Fire Officer (b)

3B.—(1) The Chief Fire Officer must—

- (a) prepare, for the Administrator, a business plan for the Fire Service which identifies outcomes by which the objectives in the plan may be measured;
- (b) provide advice to the Administrator, on the Chief Fire Officer's own initiative and on request, on fire prevention, fire safety and other fire related matters, including in connection with the policy on the development of immovable property and the consideration of applications for permits for development and building made under any legislation;
- (c) liaise with other emergency services in the island of Cyprus and in the United Kingdom for the purpose of the effective discharge of the functions of the Fire Service.
- (2) The Chief Fire Officer must ensure there is appropriate and adequate provision for—
 - (a) such fire stations and equipment as are necessary to efficiently meet all normal requirements;
 - (b) the training of all Fire Service personnel;
 - (c) dealing with calls for help and for summoning Fire Service personnel and other persons who may be required for fire-fighting purposes;
 - (d) obtaining information needed for fire-fighting purposes, in particular relating to—
 - (i) the nature of buildings and other property; and
 - (ii) the water supply available and the means of access to it;
 - (e) ensuring that reasonable steps are taken to prevent or limit damage to property resulting from action taken for fire-fighting purposes;
 - (f) supporting other emergency services in the island of Cyprus;
 - (g) the protection of all persons engaged in fire fighting duties under the command of a senior fire officer;
 - (h) the conduct of fire safety inspections under section 5 and the preparation of reports of the inspections; and
 - (j) the engagement with residents of the Areas, on request and at the initiative of fire officers, to promote fire safety, including the provision of advice on—
 - (i) how to prevent fires and restrict their spread through buildings and other property; and
 - (ii) the means of escape from buildings and other property in case of fire.

⁽a) Sections 3A inserted by Ordinance 17/2016 – Section 3A will come into force by an order made as a public instrument by the Chief Officer

⁽b) Section 3B inserted by Ordinance 17/2016 – came into force on 1 January 2016

(3) In this section, "immovable property" has the meaning given in section 2 of the Immovable Property (Tenure, Registration and Valuation) Ordinance (a).

Ancillary powers of the Chief Officer

4.—(1) The Chief Officer may pay such amount as the Chief Officer considers appropriate to persons (other than fire officers) who assist the Fire Service for fire-fighting purposes.

(2) The Chief Officer may provide the services of any persons employed by the Fire Service or any equipment maintained by it to any person for any purpose that appears to the Chief Officer to be appropriate.

(3) When services are provided under subsection (2), the Chief Officer may require that the person to whom they are provided pay such amount as the Chief Officer considers appropriate.

Fire safety inspections

5.—(1) A fire officer may, either on their own initiative or at the request of the Area Officer, inspect for the purpose of fire safety—

- (a) the plans of a proposed new building or a proposed alteration to an existing building;
- (b) a new building or alteration, on or before completion of the proposed work;
- (c) an existing building, other than a private dwelling.

(2) The Administrator may make regulations to prescribe certain categories of building which must be inspected by a fire officer for the purpose of fire safety.

(3) A person must not obstruct a fire officer conducting an inspection under this section.

(4) A person must comply with any recommendations made for the purpose of fire safety following an inspection under this section.

(5) A person who contravenes subsection (3) or (4) commits an offence and is liable to a fine of \notin 341.

(6) The Court before which a charge has been brought against a person for an offence under subsection (5) may order the suspension of any further work in relation to the construction, re-construction, alteration or operation of the building in question until the final determination of the case.

Obtaining information and investigating fires

6.—(1) A fire officer may at any reasonable time enter property—

- (a) for the purpose of obtaining information needed for the discharge of the Chief Officer's duty under section 3(2)(d), Chief Fire Officer's duty under section 3B(2)(d); (b) or
- (b) if there has been a fire on the property, for the purpose of investigating what caused the fire and why it progressed as it did.
- (2) A fire officer must not under subsection (1)—
 - (a) enter property by force, or
 - (b) demand admission to a private dwelling unless 24 hours' notice in writing has first been given to the occupier of the dwelling.

(3) A fire officer must not under subsection (1)(b) enter property in which there has been a fire if—

⁽a) Cap 224, Laws of Cyprus 1959 ed. Legislation of the former colony of Cyprus has effect in the Areas by virtue of article 5 of the Sovereign Base Areas of Akrotiri and Dhekelia Order in Council 1960 (UK S.I. 1960/1369). Schedule 2 to the Interpretation Ordinance 2012 (Ord. 8/2012) provides for the interpretation of such legislation

⁽b) Text deleted and new text inserted by Ordinance 17/2015 - came into force on 1 January 2016

- (a) the property is unoccupied, and
- (b) the property was occupied as a private dwelling immediately before the fire, unless 24 hours' notice in writing has first been given to the person who was the occupier of the dwelling immediately before the fire.

(4) On an application by a fire officer, the Court may issue a warrant authorising the Fire Service to enter property by force at any reasonable time, if it is satisfied that—

- (a) it is necessary for the fire officer to enter the property for the purpose of subsection (1), and
- (b) the fire officer is unable to do so, or is likely to be unable to do so, otherwise than by force.

(5) If, on an application by a fire officer, the Court is satisfied that it is necessary for the Fire Service to enter a private dwelling for the purposes of subsection (1) without giving notice, the Court may issue a warrant authorising them to enter the dwelling at a ny time (by force if necessary).

(6) A fire officer exercising a power of entry under this section must, if requested by the owner or occupier of the property, produce a form of identification showing that they are a fire officer and any warrant issued under subsection (4) or (5)—

- (a) before entering the property, or
- (b) if that is impracticable, at any time before leaving the property.

Supplementary powers when entering property under section 6

7.—(1) If a fire officer exercises a power of entry under section 6(1)(a) or (b), they may—

- (a) take with them any other persons, and any equipment, that they consider necessary;
- (b) require any person present at the property to provide them with any facilities, information, documents or records, or other assistance, that the fire officer may reasonably request.

(2) If a fire officer exercises a power of entry under section 6(1)(b), they may—

- (a) inspect and copy any documents or records at the property or remove them from the property;
- (b) carry out any inspections, measurements and tests in relation to the property, or to an article or substance found on the property, that they consider necessary;
- (c) take samples of an article or substance found on the property, but not so as to destroy it or damage it unless it is necessary to do so for the purpose of the investigation;
- (d) dismantle an article found on the property, but not so as to destroy it or damage it unless it is necessary to do so for the purpose of the investigation;
- (e) take possession of an article or substance found on the property and detain it for as long as is necessary for any of these purposes—
 - (i) to examine it and do anything they have power to do under paragraph (b) or (d);
 - (ii) to ensure that it is not tampered with before their examination of it is completed;
 - (iii) to ensure that it is available for use as evidence in proceedings for an offence relevant to the investigation.
- (3) If a fire officer exercises the power in subsection (2)(c) they must—
 - (a) leave a notice at the property (either with the owner or occupier or, if that is impracticable, fixed in a prominent position) giving particulars of the article or substance and stating that they have taken a sample of it, and
 - (b) if it is practicable to do so, give to the owner or occupier at the premises a portion of the sample marked in a manner sufficient to identify it.

(4) If a fire officer exercises the power in subsection (2)(e) they must leave a notice at the premises (either with the owner or occupier or, if that is impracticable, fixed in a prominent position) giving particulars of the article or substance and stating that they have taken possession of it.

(5) If, in the exercise of any power under section 6 or this section, a fire officer enters property which is unoccupied, or from which the occupier is temporarily absent, they must on their departure leave the property as effectively secured against unauthorised entry as they found it.

(6) A person commits an offence and is liable to a fine of \in 341, if without reasonable excuse—

- (a) they obstruct the exercise of any power under section 6 or this section, or
- (b) they fail to comply with any requirement under subsection (1)(b).

Fire-fighting powers

8.—(1) If a fire officer or police officer reasonably believes a fire to have broken out or to be about to break out, they may do anything they reasonably believe to be necessary for fire-fighting purposes.

(2) In particular, in exercising their powers under subsection (1), a fire officer or police officer may enter any property, by force if necessary, without the consent of the owner or occupier.

(3) The senior fire officer is to have sole charge and control of all aspects of any fire-fighting operation, including—

- (a) the determination of the position of equipment;
- (b) the use of any water supply or the attachment of hose to any water pipes; and
- (c) the selection of the places or objects at which water is to be directed for firefighting purposes.

(4) The senior fire officer, if they consider it necessary or desirable for fire-fighting purposes, may close any street or stop or regulate the traffic in any street.

(5) A person must not intentionally obstruct or interfere with a fire officer engaged in a fire fighting operation or any equipment being used by them.

(6) A person who contravenes subsection (5) commits an offence and is liable to imprisonment for 12 months or a fine of \notin 1,708 or both.

Fire hydrants

9.—(1) A water supplier must comply with any request from the Chief Fire Officer to install fire hydrants at specified points in their water supply network, and must maintain and replace such hydrants as necessary to keep them in good working order.

(2) The expenses incurred by a water supplier in complying with a request under subsection (1) are to be borne as follows—

- (a) if the hydrant is in land which has been laid out or divided into plots in accordance with a licence granted under the Streets and Buildings Regulation (Consolidation) Ordinance 1984 the Streets and Buildings Law of the Republic (Cap.96), as applied in the Areas by the Building Standards (Adoption) Ordinance 2022, (a) the expenses are to be borne by the person holding that licence;
- (b) if the hydrant is in land other than that described in paragraph (a), the expenses are to be borne by the Administration.

⁽a) Amended by Ordinance 11/2022 – came into force on 16 May 2022

(3) The Chief Fire Officer may install manholes in order to access fire hydrants on the water supply network, together with markers to allow such hydrants to be easily identified.

(4) A person must not interfere with, or obstruct the use of, any fire hydrant, manhole or marker.

(5) A person who contravenes subsection (4) commits an offence and is liable to imprisonment for 12 months or a fine of \notin 1,708 or both.

Notice of works affecting water supply

10.—(1) If a water supplier intends to lay a new water supply network or extend an existing network, they must give at least 6 weeks' notice in writing to the Chief Fire Officer and provide a plan of the new network or extension.

(2) If it is not practicable for a person to give notice as required by subsection (1), they are to be regarded as having given the notice required by that subsection if they give notice as soon as practicable.

Obligation to increase water supply and pressure

11.—(1) If the senior fire officer requests a water supplier to provide a supply and pressure of water for fire-fighting purposes that is greater than the supplier would otherwise provide, the supplier must take all necessary steps in order to do so.

(2) For the purpose of complying with their obligation under subsection (1) a water supplier may shut off the water from the mains and pipes in any area. (3) Neither the senior fire officer nor any other person is liable to any penalty or claim arising because of anything done by a water supplier in complying with their obligation under subsection (1).

Use of water supply

12.—(1) A fire officer may use any suitable supply of water for fire-fighting purposes. (2) A person must not refuse consent to, or obstruct, the use of water under subsection (1). (3) If water is taken under subsection (1) from an irrigation division, irrigation association or private individual, the Administration must on request pay reasonable compensation for the water used. (4) Subsection (3) does not apply to water taken from a person who is obliged, by the conditions of a building permit or other licence relating to a business, to provide water to the Fire Service for the purpose of extinguishing a fire in the business premises.

False alarms

13.—(1) A person must not knowingly give, or cause to be given, a false fire alarm to the Fire Service.

(2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence and is liable to imprisonment for 3 months or a fine of \notin 854 or both.

Insurance against fire damage

14. Any damage caused by a fire officer, or by any person acting under the instructions of the senior fire officer, in the execution of their duty at the scene of a fire or a place threatened by fire is to be deemed as damage caused by the fire for the purpose of any insurance policy against such damage.

Regulations

15. The Administrator may make regulations in respect of any matter for which this Ordinance provides and more generally for the better implementation of this Ordinance.

Liability of officers of a body corporate

16. Where an offence contrary to this Ordinance is committed by a body corporate and it is proved that it is committed with the consent, connivance or approval of, or that its commission has been facilitated by the negligence of, any director, secretary or any other individual having similar responsibilities in relation to the body corporate, such director, secretary or other individual also commits a like offence and is liable to the same penalty.

Delegation to the Republic

17. (1) The function placed on the Chief Officer by section 3 is a modified qualified delegated function for the purposes of the Delegation of Functions to the Republic Ordinance 2007(a) ("the 2007 Ordinance"). (b)

(2) The function placed on the Area Officer by section 5(1) is a general delegated function for the purposes of the 2007 Ordinance.

(3) The functions placed on the Administration, Chief Officer, Chief Fire Officer, senior fire officer and fire officers by sections 4, 5, 8, 9, 11 and 12 are modified general delegated functions for the purposes of the 2007 Ordinance.

(4) The modifications applicable to delegation under subsections (1) and (3) subsection (3) (c) are that-

- (a) if an officer of the Areas carries out a function under sections 8(1), 8(2) or 12 of this Ordinance, sections 13(2) to (4) of the 2007 Ordinance do not apply and the following applies instead-
 - (i) the carrying out of a delegated function by an officer of the Areas does not deprive an officer of the Republic of the right to carry out that function, and the officers may carry out the function jointly;
 - (ii) an officer of the Areas may deprive an officer of the Republic of the right to carry out a delegated function for as long as, and in the respects in which, the officer of the Areas carries it out, by informing the officer of the Republic to that effect;
- (b) if an officer of the Republic wishes to carry out a delegated function under section 8 or 12 of this Ordinance, any authorisation required by section 15 or 16 of the 2007 Ordinance may be given orally by the Chief Fire Officer, who may impose conditions or restrictions on the authorisation; and
- (c) section 17 of the 2007 Ordinance does not apply in respect of any member of the police force of the Republic who is also a member of the Fire Service of the Republic.

(5) In this section, "the 2007 Ordinance" means the Delegation of Functions to the Republic *Ordinance 2007(d).* (e)

Application to the Crown

18. (1) This Ordinance does not bind the Crown except insofar as its provisions expressly impose duties on the Administration, the Chief Officer and fire officers.

(2) For the purposes of this section, "the Crown" means Her Majesty in right of Her Government in the United Kingdom and in right of Her Administration in the Areas. (f)

⁽a) Ordinance 17/2007

⁽b) Repealed by Ordinance 17/2015 – came into force on 1 January 2016

⁽c) Amended by Ordinance 17/2015 – came into force on 1 January 2016
(d) Ordinance 17/2007, amended by Ordinance 8/2012

⁽e) Subsection (5) inserted by Ordinance 17/2015 - came into force on 1 January 2016 (f) Repealed and replaced by Ordinance 17/2015 – came into force on 1 January 2016

18. This Ordinance does not bind the Crown, except in so far as its provisions expressly impose a duty on the Administration or a public officer.

Repeal and revocation

19.—(1) The Fire Services Ordinance 1968(**a**) is repealed.

(2) The Fire Services (Establishment of Senior Fire Officers) Regulations 1978(b) are revoked.

Amendment of Motor Vehicles and Road Traffic (Consolidation) Ordinance 2006

20.—(1) Section 2(1) (Interpretation) of the Motor Vehicles and Road Traffic (Consolidation) Ordinance 2006(c) ("the 2006 Ordinance") is amended by inserting the following definition in the appropriate alphabetical place—

""Fire Service" has the same meaning as in the Fire Service Ordinance 2010 except that it also includes the Fire Service of the Republic;".

(2) Section 4B (Exemption for fire, ambulance and Crown vehicles) of the 2006 Ordinance is amended by—

- (a) revoking paragraph (a) and replacing it with the following—
 - "(a) by the Fire Service;"; and

(b) inserting a new paragraph as follows-

"(d) a police vehicle.".

⁽**a**) Ordinance 1/1968

⁽b) Public Instrument 5/1978

⁽c) Ordinance 5/2006. Section 4B was inserted by Ordinance 24/2008